
 

SPECIAL CALLED MEETING 

December 11, 2023 
10:00 AM 

 
Albany-Dougherty Government Center 
222 Pine Ave, Room 100, Albany, GA 31701 

 

 
AGENDA 

The public will also have access to the live meeting by accessing the Dougherty County Georgia 
Government Facebook page at facebook.com/Dougherty.ga.us or viewing the public 
government access channel (Channel 16). 

1. Call the meeting to order by Chairman Lorenzo Heard. 

2. Roll Call. 

3. Minutes. 

a. Consider for action the Minutes of the November 20th Regular Meeting and  
November 21st State Delegation Meeting.  ACTION: 

4. Delegations (The Commission will hear comments on those items pertaining to Dougherty 
County for which a public hearing has not been held or scheduled. Please be brief, to the 
point, and considerate of time for others). 

a. Jana Dyke, President & CEO, Albany-Dougherty Economic Development Commission 
(EDC), present to provide the quarterly update. 

5. Purchases. 

a. Consider for action the recommendation to purchase one (1) MSV Series 1000 Mobile 
Clinic for the Dougherty County Health Department from the most responsive and 
responsible vendor meeting specifications, Mathews Specialty Vehicles (Greensboro, 
NC) in the amount of $308,142.  Four proposals were received.  Funding is budgeted 
in ARPA.  Assistant County Administrator Barry Brooks will address.  City of Albany 
Buyer Corey Gamble and Director Vamella Lovett are present.  ACTION: 

b. Consider for action the recommendation to accept the quote from Metro Power 
(Albany, GA) in the amount of $173,260 to replace the generator at the EMS Main 
facility, 1436 Palmyra Rd.  Three vendors submitted quotes with the highest 
being $243,706.  Funding is available in SPLOST VIII.  Assistant County Administrator 
Barry Brooks will address.  Facilities Management Director Heidi Hailey is 
present.  ACTION: 

  

1



6. Additional Business. 

a. Consider for action the Resolution providing for the acceptance and execution of the 
five-year renewal Judicial Alternatives of Georgia (JAG) Probation Services 
Agreement on behalf of the State Court of Dougherty County effective  
January 1, 2024.  Assistant County Administrator Barry Brooks will address.  State 
Court Judge John Stephenson is present.  ACTION: 

b. Consider for action the recommendation to accept the Resolution declaring a 2015 
Hyundai Elantra SE (from the Albany Dougherty Drug Unit) as surplus and authorize 
the sale through Charles Taylor TPA.  Assistant County Administrator Barry Brooks 
will address.  ACTION: 

c. Consider for action the Resolution providing for the reappointment of the Dougherty 
County Police Chief through the extension of the employment agreement effective 
January 2, 2024 through December 31, 2024.  County Attorney Alex Shalishali will 
address.  ACTION: 

7. Updates from the Assistant County Administrator. 

a. REMINDER - The Government Affairs Committee will meet in Room 120 following the 
Special Called Meeting. 

b. REMINDER - The next County Commission Meeting will be Monday, January 8, 
2024.  Happy Holidays! 

8. Updates from the County Attorney. 

9. Updates from the County Commission. 

10. Adjourn. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to 
observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of 
the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the ADA Coordinator at 229-431-2121 
promptly to allow the County to make reasonable accommodations for those persons. 

2



 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                DRAFT  

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

 

November 20, 2023 

 

The Dougherty County Commission met in Room 100 of the Albany-Dougherty 

Government Center on November 20, 2023.  Chairman Lorenzo Heard presided and called 

the meeting to order at 10:00 a.m.  Present were Commissioners Victor Edwards,  

Gloria Gaines, Russell Gray, Clinton Johnson and Anthony Jones.  Also present were 

Assistant County Administrator Barry Brooks, County Attorney Alex Shalishali, Deputy 

County Clerk Bristeria Clark, and other staff.  The public and representatives of the media 

participated in person and via live streaming of the meeting on the County’s Facebook page 

and the government public access channel.  Commissioner Ed Newsome was absent. 

 

After the invocation by the Chairman and Pledge of Allegiance by the Chairman, he called 

for approval of the minutes of the October 16th Regular Meeting and October 30th Work 

Session. 

 

Commissioner Johnson moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Gray, the 

minutes were unanimously approved.   

 

The Chairman recognized citizen Kevon Douglas to discuss noise concerns.  Mr. Douglas 

expressed his concerns about the noise in the neighborhood on Lily Pond Road.   

He emphasized that the noise continued all day and night.  Commissioner Edwards shared 

that the gun range was “grandfathered into the area” meaning neighbors were aware of the 

noise.  He said that he would ask the County police to monitor the closing time at the 

shooting range.  Commissioner Gaines wanted to make sure that the County could regulate 

the hours.  Attorney Shalishali said that he would look at the law and the ability to regulate 

locally.  

 

The Chairman shared that the item pertaining to the update by Disaster Recovery & Grant 

Programs Consultant Georgia Collier-Bolling on the status of the County's participation in 

the FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP) 4297 Acquisition & Demolition and 

other FEMA-related grant engagements would be skipped. Commissioner Gaines said that 

this information was important to know and would like an update. Mr. Brooks said that  

Ms. Collier-Bolling would be providing a summary report on the status of the programs for 

FEMA and GEMA and he would submit it to the Board as soon as it was received. 

 

The Chairman opened the public hearing for Kevon Douglas, owner and applicant, (23-074) 

request to rezone approximately 2.16 acres from R-2 (Single-Family Residential) to C-3 

(Commercial District). The rezoning would allow for the parking of a semi-truck. The 

property is at 1306 Lily Pond Road. The Planning Commission recommended denial.   

3

Item 3a.



Angel Gray, Deputy Planning Director addressed.  Ms. Gray said the Planning Commission 

had concerns about multiple uses on this site.  Commissioner Edwards asked if directions 

were provided to applicants during the application process.  Ms. Gray shared that they can 

provide recommendations and consultations even before citizens apply.  Mr. Douglas spoke 

in favor of the rezoning and said that some neighbors in his community have commercial 

vehicles.  Citizens Willie Dawson and Robert Lewis spoke in opposition.  Citizen Nathaniel 

Dickerson spoke in opposition and shared that “no big trucks” signs were present on Lily 

Pond Road.  There being no additional comments regarding the proposed matter, the 

Chairman closed the public hearing. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration to accept a US Department of Transportation Safe 

Streets for All (SS4A) Planning and Demonstration Grant (#20.939) in the amount of 

$263,000.  The joint city and county application requires a 20% local match of $52,600, with 

Dougherty County being responsible for $26,300.  The federal portion of the grant is 

$210,400.  Funding will be provided from TSPLOST II.  The Commission approved the 

grant application in the June 5, 2023 Regular Meeting. 

 

Commissioner Johnson moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Gray, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.   

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the acceptance and 

execution of the Mutual Aid Agreement renewal with the Marine Corps Logistics Base 

(MCLB) on behalf of the Dougherty County Emergency Medical Services (EMS) 

Department providing reciprocal support in the event of any natural and/or man-made crisis.   

 

Commissioner Johnson moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Gray, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 23-056 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION FOR APPROVAL, ACCEPTANCE AND 

EXECUTION OF THE MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT 

RENEWAL WITH THE MARINE CORPS LOGISTICS BASE 

ON BEHALF OF DOUGHERTY COUNTY EMERGENCY 

MEDICAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT PROVIDING 

RECIPROCAL SUPPORT IN THE EVENT OF ANY NATURAL 

OR MAN-MADE CRISIS; REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR 

PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; 

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the acceptance and 

execution of the Easement Agreement between Dougherty County, Georgia, the City of 

Albany, Georgia and the United States of America, acting by and through the Administrator 

of the General Services Administration, for the purpose of constructing and maintaining 

4

Item 3a.



certain security fencing for the C.B. King United States Courthouse States Courthouse.  

County Attorney Alex Shalishali addressed.   

 

Commissioner Johnson moved for approval.  Commissioner Gray seconded the motion.  

Under discussion, Commissioner Gaines shared that she does not support a fence being put 

up downtown.  Chairman Heard said that the Board may not be privy to the security threat 

across the nation which may have led for the need of the request.  Attorney Shalishali 

clarified that the fence will not be public-facing and only cover a certain portion. There being 

no additional discussion, the motion for approval passed with five ayes and one nay by 

Commissioner Gaines.  Resolution 23-057 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION FOR APPROVAL, ACCEPTANCE AND EXECUTION 

OF AN EASEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN DOUGHERTY 

COUNTY, GEORGIA, THE CITY OF ALBANY AND THE UNITED 

STATES OF AMERICA THROUGH THE ADMINISTRATOR OF THE 

GENERAL SERVICES ADMINISTRATION; REPEALING 

RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT 

HEREWITH; 

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for the zoning consideration of Kevon Douglas, owner and applicant,  

(23-074) request to rezone approximately 2.16 acres from R-2 (Single-Family Residential) 

to C-3 (Commercial District). The rezoning would allow for the parking of a semi-truck. The 

property is at 1306 Lily Pond Road.  The Planning Commission recommended denial.   

 

Commissioner Edwards moved for approval to deny.  Commissioner Johnson seconded the 

motion.  Under discussion, Commissioner Gaines said that 1800-wheelers were not allowed 

on Lily Pond Road.  Commissioner Edwards wanted to ensure that all of the signs were 

enlarged and visible.  Commissioner Gaines also emphasized that all signage should be 

marked on County roads.  There being no further discussion, the motion for denial passed 

unanimously.    

 

Mr. Brooks shared that the Emergency Management Director issued a notice of a 

thunderstorm and asked the Commission to fill out the National Gas Safety Pipeline survey 

that was given to them by Clerk Ware.  Attorney Shalishali provided clarification on a 

previous question by Commissioner Gaines regarding consolidating the mutual aid 

agreements for MCLB.  He said that it would be difficult to combine due to the involvement 

of various scopes of work. 

 

Commissioner Edwards asked if flock cameras could be placed on Lily Pond Road and the 

Chairman said yes.  Commissioner Gray wished everyone a Happy Thanksgiving.  

Commissioner Gaines and Commissioner Jones shared the same sentiments.  

5

Item 3a.



Chairman Heard wanted to send prayers to former President Carter due to the loss of his 

wife First Lady Rosalynn Carter. 

 

There being no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting adjourned at  

11:11 a.m. 

 

 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

CHAIRMAN 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________ 

COUNTY CLERK 

6

Item 3a.



 

        DOUGHERTY COUNTY COMMISSION 

                 DRAFT 

STATE DELEGATION MEETING MINUTES 

 

November 21, 2023 
 

The Dougherty County Commission met with the State Delegation at the Chehaw Park Creekside 

Center on November 21, 2023 at 8:02 a.m.  State Officials in attendance were Senator Freddie 

Powell-Sims, and Representatives Mike Cheokas, Gerald Greene, and Bill Yearta.  

Commissioners Victor Edwards, Gloria Gaines, Russell Gray, Clinton Johnson, Anthony Jones, 

and Ed Newsome were present.  Chairman Lorenzo Heard participated via teleconference.  

Assistant County Administrator Barry Brooks, Deputy County Clerk Bristeria Hope, other staff 

and citizens were also present. 

 

Artesian Alliance Executive Director Tommy Gregors provided a warm welcome to the Board 

and Legislators.  Representative Greene requested a moment of silence and invocation for the loss 

of former First Lady Rosalynn Carter.  Commissioner Gray shared the priorities of the local 

support request to include: The Westtown Library Improvements, Judicial Building Facilities 

Funding, Assuming Financial Responsibility for State Prisoners in the County Jail, EMS Funding, 

Mental Health Reform, and the Property Tax Assessment and Appeal Reform. 

 

Commissioner Gray said that allowing EMS Medicaid reimbursement for the first 10 miles of 

ambulance transport could help reduce workforce shortages and service delivery challenges.  

Mental health reform would support expanding the Behavioral Health Crisis Center Units across 

the state within a reasonable distance from local jails.  The property tax assessment would support 

placing restrictions on the three-year lock to protect homeowners and local governments.   

He mentioned the funding amount of $700,000 to support renovations for the Westtown Library 

Improvements project.  In addition, he informed them of the renovations to the Judicial Building 

to add the Superior Court Judge in the amount of $700,000.  It was shared that more courtrooms 

would be considered in the revision and remodeling of the Judicial Building.  The last ask was to 

focus on healthcare cost mitigation which would help Dougherty County's financial responsibility 

for state prisoners housed in the County Jail. Representative Greene asked that the Board provide 

a letter of support for each ask within a week. 

 

After no further concerns were presented in the meeting, the County Commission members were 

dismissed at 8:37 a.m. 

              

        _________________________________ 

        Bristeria Hope, Deputy County Clerk 

7

Item 3a.



8

Item 5a.



9

Item 5a.



      Barry Brooks 
                  Assistant County Administrator 

 

 

 

 

                                                        

 DOUGHERTY COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

                                ADMINISTRATION 

        

 

   
 

 
222 PINE AVENUE | SUITE 540 | ALBANY, GEORGIA 31701 | 229.431.2121 | dougherty.ga.us 

Agenda Item 

 

Date:   December 7, 2023 

 

Meeting Date:             December 11, 2023 

 

Subject/Title:  Replacement Generator Purchase EMS Main 

 

Presented for:  Decision 

 

Presenter:                   Barry Brooks, Assistant County Administrator 

 

Statement of Issue 

Dougherty County Facilities Management needs to purchase a replacement generator for the 

EMS Main facility, 1436 Palmyra Rd. 

 

History/Facts and Issues  

Dougherty County Facilities Management needs to purchase a replacement generator for the 

EMS Main facility. The current generator is 22 years old and was damaged in a lightning storm. 

The claim has been denied by the insurance company.  Due to the age of the generator parts 

are no longer available and the equipment is not repairable. The generator is scheduled for life 

cycle replacement in 2024. A rental generator is in place until a new generator is installed. 

 

Recommended Action 

Three quotes were obtained with the highest being $243,706.  The recommendation is for the 

Dougherty County Commission to accept the lowest quote meeting specifications from Metro 

Power (Albany, GA) in the amount of $173,260. 

 

Funding Source 

SPLOST VIII 

 
Quotes 
Metro Power   $173,260 
Georgia Electric Associates $213,000 
A West Enterprises  $243,706 

10

Item 5b.



A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE JUDICIAL ALTERNATIVES OF GEORGIA, INC, 

PROBATION SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH THE STATE COURT OF 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2024; REPEALING 

RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH;  

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia is hereby 

desirous of approving the Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc., Probation Services Agreement 

with the State Court of Dougherty County effective January 1, 2024; 

 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty 

County, Georgia and it is hereby resolved by Authority of same as follows: 

 

 SECTION I      The attached Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc., Probation Services 

Agreement with the State Court of Dougherty County effective January 1, 2024, is hereby 

approved.  The Acting County Administrator and other necessary County personnel are hereby 

authorized to execute any and all other documents necessary for full execution and implementation 

of the Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc., Probation Services Agreement with the State Court 

of Dougherty County. 

 

 SECTION II    All Resolutions or parts of Resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

  

 This the 11th day of December, 2023. 

        

       BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

       DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

 

       BY:______________________________ 

           Lorenzo L. Heard, Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_______________________________ 

County Clerk 

 

 

11

Item 6a.



12

Item 6a.



13

Item 6a.



14

Item 6a.



15

Item 6a.



16

Item 6a.



17

Item 6a.



18

Item 6a.



19

Item 6a.



20

Item 6a.



21

Item 6a.



22

Item 6a.



23

Item 6a.



24

Item 6a.



                                                                

A RESOLUTION 
ENTITLED  

A RESOLUTION TO DECLARE AS SURPLUS A SALVAGED 2015 HYUNDAI ELANTRA (VIN NO.  
5NPDH4AE3FH635754) AND HAVE SAID SURPLUSED SALVAGED VEHICLE DISPOSED OF 

THROUGH CHARLES TAYLOR TPA, DOUGHERTY COUNTY’S THIRD PARTY ADMINISTRATOR; 
REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND FOR 

OTHER PURPOSES. 
  
 WHEREAS, Dougherty County, Georgia is desirous of declaring as surplus a 2015 Hyundai 
Elantra (VIN NO.  5NPDH4AE3FH635754) and having said vehicle disposed of a surplused salvaged 
vehicle through Charles Taylor TPA, Dougherty County’s Third Party Administrator. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, 
Georgia hereby resolved by Authority of same as follows: 
 
 SECTION I   Dougherty County’s salvaged 22015 Hyundai Elantra (VIN NO.  
5NPDH4AE3FH635754) is hereby declared as surplus property and the Assistant County 
Administrator is hereby authorized to both dispose of said vehicle through Charles Taylor TPA, 
Dougherty County’s Third Party Administrator, and to execute Form T-19 permitting Charles 
Taylor TPA through their salvaged contractor, Insurance Auto Auction (IAA), to dispose of said 
surplus property. 
 
 SECTION II    All Resolutions or parts of Resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby 
repealed. 
 
 This the 11th day of December, 2023. 
 
       BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 
       DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 
       BY:___________________________ 
            Lorenzo L. Heard, Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
County Clerk 

25

Item 6b.



Requested Surplus and Disposal to Underwriters Safety and Claims

Description VIN Number

2015 Hyundai Elantra SE 5NPDH4AE3FH635754 Non-salvageable

Condition

Albany-Dougherty Drug Unit Department

Surplus Listing for  approval 12/11/2023 Page 1
26

Item 6b.



A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE REAPPOINTMENT OF THE  POLICE 

CHIEF THROUGH THE EXTENSION OF EMPLOYMENT AGREEEMENT 

EFFECTIVE THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2024; REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR 

PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH;  

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia on  

December 12, 2022, reappointed Kenneth Johnson as Police Chief of Dougherty County, Georgia 

through the extension of the Employment Agreement effective through December 31, 2023; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia is hereby 

desirous of approving the reappointment of Kenneth Johnson as Police Chief through the extension 

of the Employment Agreement effective through December 31, 2024. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty 

County, Georgia, and it is hereby resolved by Authority of same as follows: 

 

 SECTION I. The Employment Agreement between the Board of Commissioners of 

Dougherty County, Georgia and Kenneth Johnson reappointing Chief Johnson as Police Chief 

effective through December 31, 2024, is hereby approved.  

 

 SECTION II. The Chairman the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia 

is hereby authorized to execute the Employment Agreement attached hereto reappointing Kenneth 

Johnson as Police Chief along with any and all other documents necessary to full implementation 

of the Employment Agreement.   

 

 SECTION III. All Resolutions or parts of Resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

 

 This the 11th day of December, 2023. 

       BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

       DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

 

       BY:______________________________ 

        Lorenzo L. Heard, Chairman 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_______________________________ 

County Clerk 

27

Item 6c.



State of Georgia  

County of Dougherty 

  

 EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into this 11th day of December, 2023, by 

and between the BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF DOUGHERTY COUNTY, 

GEORGIA, hereinafter called “Employer,” as party of the first part, and KENNETH 

JOHNSON, hereinafter called “Employee,” as party of the second part, both of whom 

understand and agree as follows: 

WI T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, Employer desires to employ the services of Kenneth Johnson as Police 

Chief of Dougherty County, Georgia; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Employer, to provide certain benefits, establish 

certain conditions of employment, and to set working conditions of said Employee; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of Employer to (1) secure and retain the services of 

Employee and to provide inducements for him to remain in such employment, (2) to make 

possible full work productivity by assuring Employee's morale and peace of mind with 

respect to future employment, and (3) to provide a just means for terminating Employee's 

services for cause or at such time when Employer may otherwise desire to terminate his 

employ; and 

WHEREAS, Employee desires to accept employment as Police Chief of said County. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, 

the parties agree as follows: 

 

SECTION 1. DUTIES. 

A. As Police Chief, the Employee shall be the Chief Administrative Officer of 

the Dougherty County Police Department (hereinafter the “Police Department”). The 

Employee shall be responsible for the general administration, operation, and oversight of the 

Police Department. The Employee shall be charged with the effective and impartial 

enforcement of all County ordinances and state laws for the protection of all citizens who 

live in the unincorporated areas of the County. The Employee shall be responsible for 

planning, organizing, directing, staffing, coordinating, and budgeting County police 

28

Item 6c.



2 

operations. The Employee shall be responsible for reporting the operational performance of 

the Police Department to the County Commission and the County Administrator. 

B. The Employee shall perform other legally permissible and proper duties and 

functions as necessary. 

C. The Employee shall formulate departmental rules, regulations, and procedures 

in cooperation with the County Administrator, to whom the Employee reports and to whom 

the Employee is responsible for the proper operation of the Police Department as delegated 

by the County Commission. 

D. Nothing in the Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the 

right of Employer to terminate the services of Employee at any time, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 2, Paragraphs “A” and “B” of this Agreement. 

E. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the 

right of Employee to resign at any time from his position with Employer, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 2, Paragraph “D” of this Agreement. 

F. Employee agrees to remain in the exclusive employ of Employer through 

December 31, 2024 and neither to accept other employment nor become self-employed 

until said termination date, unless said employment is terminated as hereinafter provided.  

G. The term “employed” shall not be considered to include occasional teaching, 

speaking, writing or consulting activities, performed during the Employee's time- off so 

long as such activities do not conflict with the Employer’s policies, interests, expectations, 

or standards of conduct or with Employee’s employment obligations and responsibilities to 

Employer under this Agreement. 

 

SECTION 2. TERMINATION AND SEVERANCE PAY. 

A. In the event Employee is terminated by Employer before expiration of the 

aforesaid term of employment for reasons other than “just cause”, then in 'that event, 

Employer agrees to pay Employee a lump sum cash payment equal to six months 

aggregate salary, and six months for Employee's cost of COBRA insurance continuation. 

Further, Employee shall be compensated for all accrued annual leave. Employer must 

give Employee a minimum of thirty (30) days written notice of termination for other 

than “just cause”. During said thirty (30) day period, Employer shall continue to pay 

29

Item 6c.



3 

Employee full pay and benefits under this contract. 

B. In the event Employer at any time during the term of this Agreement 

reduces the salary or other financial benefits of Employee for reasons other than “just 

cause” in a greater percentage than an applicable across-the-board reduction for all 

employees of Employer, then, in that event, Employee, may, at his option, deem himself 

to be “terminated” as of date of such reduction within the meaning and context of the 

foregoing Paragraph “A”. 

C. Employer may place Employee on Administrative Leave with full pay and 

benefits at any time during the term of this Agreement with or without “just cause”, 

upon the vote of a majority of the Board of Commissioners. In the event Employee 

voluntarily resigns following a majority vote of the Board placing Employee on 

Administrative Leave, then in that event the Employee shall be deemed terminated 

under paragraph “A” above.   

D. In the event Employee voluntarily resigns his position with Employer 

before expiration of the aforesaid term of his employment, then Employee shall give 

Employer sixty (60) days written notice in advance, unless the parties otherwise agree. 

Employee's resignation shall not obligate Employer to provide any severance pay 

described in this section. However, Employer shall pay Employee for accrued vacation 

and sick leave. 

E. If a majority of the Board of Commissioners vote to terminate the 

employment of Employee for stated “just cause”, within thirty (30) days of the date of 

termination, Employee shall be afforded an opportunity to appear before the Board, in 

a regular or called meeting, and present any facts or evidence he wishes to be made a 

part of the official minutes. 

F. Should Employer desire not to rehire Employee, Employer agrees to give 

Employee ninety days or more written notice of its decision prior to the expiration of 

this Employment Agreement. In the event Employer does not give written notice to 

Employee ninety days or more prior to expiration of this Employment Agreement, the 

Employment Agreement shall be renewed/extended under the same terms and 

conditions, as stated herein, for an additional year. Said Employment Agreement shall 

continue to be renewed/extended each year thereafter unless Employer gives to 

30

Item 6c.



4 

Employee the ninety days written notice as stated above. Should Employer decide to 

give the above stated written notice to Employee, then, in that event, Employee shall 

continue employment under the terms of either this Employment Agreement or any 

subsequent renewal or extension for the balance of the term, after which, Employer 

agrees to pay Employee a lump sum cash payment equal to three months aggregate 

salary and three months for Employee's cost of COBRA insurance continuation. Further, 

Employee shall be compensated for all accrued annual leave. 

 

SECTION 3. SALARY. 

Employer agrees to pay Employee for all services rendered pursuant hereto an 

annual base salary of $105,000.00 payable in bi-weekly installments at the same time as 

other employees of Employer are paid. In addition, Employer agrees to increase said 

base salary and/or other benefits of Employee in such amounts and to such extent as 

Employer may determine that it is desirable to do so on the basis of an annual salary 

review of said Employee made at the same time as similar consideration is given to other 

employees generally. Employee shall receive a cost of-living adjustment in the same 

manner as and when approved for all full-time employees. 

 

SECTION 4. HOURS OF WORK, 

A. For FLSA purpose, Employee is an “exempt” employee who is expected to 

engage all those hours of work necessary to fulfill the obligations of his position of 

employment. Employee does not have pre-established hours as he is expected to be 

available at all times, except during periods of approved leave. Employee acknowledges 

his employment is primary to all other activities and ventures he may pursue or engage 

in for profit. 

B. Employee shall not regularly spend more than ten hours per week in 

teaching, consulting, or other non-Employer related activities, w h e t h e r  s u c h  

a c t i v i t i e s  a r e  p e r f o r m e d  f o r  p r o f i t  o r  o n  a  v o l u n t a r y  b a s i s ,  without 

the prior written approval of Employer. 

 

SECTION 5. ANNUAL LEAVE, SICK LEAVE, ETC. 

31

Item 6c.



5 

Notwithstanding the provisions of this contract relative to termination of 

employment, the Employee shall be subject to and governed by, the general personnel 

policies for County employees regarding the accrual of vacation, sick leave, other forms of 

leave and holidays. Where any provision of such policies conflict with this Agreement it 

is the intention of the parties that the terms of this Agreement shall control. 

 

SECTION 6. VEHICLE USE. 

Employee's duties require that he have access to a suitable County vehicle at all 

times during his employment with Employer. Employee serves in a public safety capacity 

as Police Chief and is therefore deemed to be on duty in an around-the-clock capacity. 

Employee serves in an “on call” capacity and will have unrestricted use of said vehicle to 

ensure expedient fulfillment of public safety needs. Employee assumes all liability for 

operation of said vehicle in accordance with local and state traffic laws and ordinances, 

and Employee is solely responsible for the payment of any fines and fees upon conviction 

of a violation of any traffic law or traffic ordinance. Employee will have use of said vehicle 

for any and all out-of-County travel only if such travel relates directly to performance of 

duties of Police Chief. Employer will provide all vehicle registration and licensing costs, 

all vehicle insurance, all operational and maintenance costs – including mileage 

reimbursements at the standard IRS rate, other than costs incurred due to negligence on 

the part of the Employee. 

 

SECTION 7. GENERAL EXPENSES. 

Employer recognizes that certain expenses of a non-personal and generally job 

affiliated nature are incurred by Employee and hereby agrees to reimburse Employee for 

all such expenses, as deemed reasonably by the Employer, in its sole discretion, and upon 

presentation of receipts in an acceptable format. 

 

SECTION 8. HEALTH CARE BENEFITS & INSURANCE, 

Employee shall be entitled to receive all Health Care, Life Insurance, and Disability 

Insurance benefits offered to County employees as a group. 

 

32

Item 6c.



6 

SECTION 9. RETIREMENT, 

Employee shall not be subject to the general policies of the Employer regarding 

retirement as the same exists or may hereafter be amended due to the unique nature of 

his employment and profession. In lieu thereof, Employer shall pay to Employee's 

portable retirement plan twelve percent (12%) of Employee's annual salary. However, 

payment by the Employer will be in accordance with the rules and regulations governing 

the payment of same promulgated by the Internal Revenue Services of the United States 

of America, and Employee shall be responsible for any and all income tax liability, both 

federal or state, in respect to same. Employee shall also be a participant in the Employer's 

Retirement Plan (Dougherty County Defined Benefit Retirement Plan) as other regular 

full-time employees from his first eligible date since employment. 

 

SECTION 10. DUES AND SUBSCRIPTIONS. 

Employer agrees to budget and pay for the reasonable professional dues, 

subscriptions and memberships of Employee necessary for his continuation and full 

participation in national, regional, state and local associations and organizations necessary 

and desirable for his continued professional participation, growth and advancement and 

for the good of Employer, as determined in Employer’s sole discretion. Employer agrees 

to pay membership dues assessed employee by a local civic club or organization. Said 

expenses shall be subject to budget limitations and County travel policies. 

 

SECTION 11. PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT, 

A. Employer hereby agrees to budget and pay for the reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for professional and official travel, meetings and 

occasions adequate to continue the professional development of Employee and to 

adequately pursue necessary official and other functions for Employer, including but not 

limited to the annual IACP and Georgia Chiefs Conferences, Southwest Georgia Sheriffs & 

Chiefs Intelligence Network, and such other national, regional, state and local government 

groups and committees thereof which Employee serves as a member. Said expenses shall be 

subject to budget limitations and County travel policies. 

B. Employer also agrees to budget and pay for the reasonable travel and 

33

Item 6c.



7 

subsistence expenses of Employee for short courses, institutes, and seminars that are 

necessary for his professional development and for the good of Employer. Said expenses 

shall be subject to budget limitations and County travel policies. 

 

SECTION 12. BONDING. 

Employer shall bear the full cost of any fidelity or other bonds required of Employee 

under any law or ordinance. 

 

SECTION 13. INDEMNIFICATION. 

Employer shall defend Employee, either through liability insurance or 

participation in an interlocal risk management agency, against any tort, professional 

liability claim, demand, or other legal obligation, arising out of an alleged act or omission 

occurring in the performance of Employee's duties as Chief of Police. Employer or its 

insurer may litigate, compromise, and/or settle any such claim or suit and pay the amount 

of any settlement or judgment rendered thereon, without the Employee's consent. 

 

SECTION 14 OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT. 

A. Employer, in consultation with the Employee, shall fix any such other terms 

and conditions that are not inconsistent with or in conflict with the provisions of this 

Agreement, County Resolutions or any other law or policy. 

B. All provisions of the County Code, and regulations and rules of Employer 

relating to vacation and sick leave, retirement and pension system contributions, 

holidays, and other fringe benefits and working conditions as they now exist or hereafter 

may be amended, shall also apply to Employee as they would to other employees of 

Employer, in addition to said benefits enumerated specifically for the benefit of 

Employee as herein provided. 

 

SECTION 15. NOTICES, 

Notices pursuant to this Agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the 

United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

 Employer:  Chairman 

34

Item 6c.



8 

    Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia 

    Post Office Box 1827 

    Albany, Georgia 31702 

 

 Employee:  Kenneth Johnson, Police Chief  

Dougherty County, Georgia 

    1722 Whisperwood Street 

Albany, Georgia 31721 

 

Alternatively, notices required pursuant to this Agreement may be personally served in the 

same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as of 

the date of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such written notice in the 

course of transmission in the United States Postal Service. 

 

SECTION 16. ASSIGNMENT, 

This Agreement shall be binding upon the Employer, Dougherty County, Georgia 

and any successor government into which the County may hereafter be merged, unified 

or consolidated. Performance by the Employee is not assignable. 

 

SECTION 17. GENERAL PROVISIONS, 

 A. This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties with respect to 

the subject matter of the agreement and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, both 

oral and written, between the parties with respect to the subject matter of this agreement. 

B. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the 

heirs at law and executors of Employee. 

C. If any provision, or portion thereof, contained in this Agreement is held 

unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion 

thereof, shall be deemed severable, shall not be affected and shall remain in full force 

and effect. 

 

[Signatures to appear on next page] 

  

35

Item 6c.



9 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Employer has caused this Agreement to be signed and 

executed in its behalf by its Chairman and duly attested by its Clerk and Employee has signed 

and executed this Agreement, both in duplicate, the date and year first above written. 

 

     BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF  

     DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

 

      BY:_________________________________ 

       Lorenzo L. Heard, Chairman 

 

 

     EMPLOYEE 

 

 

      ______________________________(L.S.) 

       Kenneth Johnson 

Attest: 

 

 

Clerk, Dougherty County, Georgia 

 

 

Approved as to form: 

 

 

Alex M. Shalishali, County Attorney 

Dougherty County, Georgia 

36

Item 6c.


	Top
	Item 3a.	Minutes
	2023.11.20 Minutes Regular
	2023.11.21 State Delegation Meeting Minutes

	Item 5a.	Purchase a_Mobile Health Unit
	Purchase a_Mobile Health Unit

	Item 5b.	Purchase b_EMS Generator
	Purchase b_EMS Generator

	Item 6a.	Other a_JAG_State Court
	Other a_JAG Probation_State Court Resolution
	Other a_JAG Probation_State Court

	Item 6b.	Other b_Surplus
	Other b_Surplus_TPA

	Item 6c.	Other C_Reappointment DCP
	Other c_DCP Chief
	Other c_DCP Chief Agreement

	Bottom

